IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MIS	SSISSIPPI	
Clarence Represer Estate of For the u	te of Jettie Dixon, by and through Smith, Individually and as Personal Itative for the use and benefit of the Jettie Dixon, and on behalf of and se and benefit of the wrongful death ries of Jettie Dixon,)))))	PLAINTIFF APPELLANT
vs.	CASE NO. 2006-CA-00728)	
Bedford I	Health Properties, LLC.))))	EFENDANTS/ APPELLEES
	ON APPEAL FROM FORREST COUNT TWELFTH JUDICIAL DISTR THE HONORABLE ROBERT B. H	RICT	
	BRIEF OF APPELLANTS	S .	
	ORAL ARGUMENT REQUES	STED

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Statement of the Issues

- I. Whether the durable power of attorney for property and financial matters held by Clarence Smith granted him authority to waive Jettie Dixon's constitutional right to a jury trial.
- II. Whether fiduciaries may enforce an arbitration clause against the estate of a deceased resident when the clause was signed years after admission for the purpose of reducing liability and securing liability insurance, and when misleading and incomplete information was given to the person signing the clause.
- III. Whether a pre-dispute arbitration clause is enforceable when a material term of the clause itself holds that the issues in the case are not arbitrable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case is a nursing-home abuse-and-neglect case. R. 10-45.¹ Plaintiff is the personal representative of the estate of Jettie Dixon representing the estate and Ms. Dixon's wrongful-death beneficiaries. Defendants are the owners and operators of the nursing home where Ms. Dixon resided and incurred her injuries.

This appeal does not involve the merits of the case. Rather, this appeal will decide whether the case will be heard by an arbitrator or by a Mississippi jury. At issue is the validity and enforceability of an arbitration clause contained in an updated admission agreement signed many years after Ms. Dixon became a resident of the nursing home. The agreement was signed by Ms. Dixon's son who held a power of attorney for property and financial matters.

Course of the Proceedings Below

Following the filing of the complaint, Defendants moved to compel arbitration. After discovery limited to issues surrounding the signing of the arbitration clause at issue, Plaintiff responded raising several arguments including that the person who signed the clause did not have the authority to waive Jettie Dixon's right to a trial by jury and that under the facts of this case, Defendants breached certain fiduciary duties owed to Ms. Dixon in the presentation and signing of the clause. R.E. 82-94; R. 109, 356, Hearing transcript, 19-32. The trial court disagreed and granted Defendants' motion.

¹ References to the record are denoted as R.____. References to the excerpts of the record are denoted as E.R. ____. The record excerpts are numbered in the lower left hand corner.

The trial court's order compelling arbitration was entered pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the case was dismissed. R. 382. Plaintiff filed a timely notice of appeal. R.E. 75.

Statement of Facts

Jettie Dixon became a resident of Defendants' nursing home in 1997. R. 14. Ms. Dixon was a resident constantly from that time forward. The admission agreement signed upon her admission did not contain a clause waiving her right to a jury trial and sending any dispute she might have with the facility to arbitration.

In November of 2002, the nursing home changed its name and decided to draft a new admission agreement for all residents to sign. R.E. 46-48; R. 312-314. As testified by Robert Perry, Defendants' administrator, the new agreement was required by the nursing home's liability insurance carrier. R.E. 46-48; R. 312-314. The insurance carrier also required that the new agreement include an arbitration clause and exculpatory language. R.E. 46-48; R. 312-314. These terms were conditions of coverage. Ms. Dixon's son Clarence Smith signed the new admission agreement including the arbitration clause. R. 177.

Three important pieces of evidence exist in this case and are dispositive of the issues. The first is a power of attorney given by Ms. Dixon to her son Clarence Smith in 2001. R.E. 5; R. 195-198. The trial court relied on this power of attorney to conclude that a valid arbitration clause was executed in this case. R.E. 82, Hearing Transcript p. 26-27.

The power of attorney, however, is limited in its scope. It only granted Mr. Smith authority over Ms. Dixon's property and finances. In relevant part, it reads:

I, Jettie Dixon, . . . do hereby nominate, constitute and appoint my son, Clarence L. Smith . . . as my true and lawful agent and attorney in-fact (herein "Attorney") to act on my behalf and in my place and stead with respect to all property, real, personal and mixed, wherever located, now owned or hereafter acquired by me, held solely by me or jointly or in common with another

R.E. 5; R. 195. Clearly, nothing in this language vests Mr. Smith with the authority to bind Ms. Dixon to mandatory arbitration.

The limitations on Mr. Smith's authority are then made more clear in paragraph 3 of the power of attorney as follows:

The Attorney shall have and is hereby vested with the full and plenary power to do and perform, in his fiduciary capacity, any and all acts and deeds *in connection with the management of my property* which he in his discretion and consistent with his fiduciary duty deem to be in the best interests of the Principal [Ms. Dixon].

R.E. 5. R. 195-196 (emphasis added). This paragraph then sets forth certain specific powers that are included within the general power, but all such powers are limited to "this power," which is to manage Ms. Dixon's property. Nothing in the power of attorney grants any authority to waive any right, including the right to a jury trial, outside of this discrete area of property management.

The next two important pieces of evidence are the depositions of Wesley Crider, the administrator in training who presented the arbitration clause to Mr. Smith, and Robert Perry, the administrator. In very telling and definitive terms, Mr. Crider testified that arbitration clauses are included in nursing home admission agreements to protect nursing homes from liability. R.E. 17-22; R. 225, 230. That fact was not communicated to Mr. Smith. It does, however explain Mr. Perry's equally-disturbing testimony that the clause was included in the admission agreement at the insistence of the nursing home's

liability insurance carrier, another fact not explained to Mr. Smith at the signing. R.E. 46-48; R. 312-314.

In short, Clarence Smith was asked to come to the facility where his mother had been a resident for many years and sign another admission agreement. She had not been discharged, so what was the purpose of the new signing? According to Defendants' administrator in training, the new admission agreement was presented as being needed because of the name change at the facility only. R.E. 15; R. 223. Yet, the administrator's testimony refutes this as the true purpose.

One final point is important. The arbitration clause at issue reads that any arbitration will be conducted according to the procedural rules of the American Health Lawyers Association (AHLA). R.E. 4; R. 49, 251. In fact, those Rules are incorporated into the agreement itself as a material term. *Ibid.* However, the Rules of Procedure of AHLA hold that AHLA will not administer a pre-dispute arbitration clause in the health-care context. R. 142-143. This clause is clearly a pre-dispute arbitration clause. Accordingly, by its own terms, the arbitration clause excepts Plaintiff's claims from arbitration.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in compelling arbitration in this case. Jettie Dixon did not sign the arbitration clause at issue. Her son Clarence Smith did. Mr. Smith, however, had no authority to bind Jettie Dixon to an arbitration clause. The only authority granted to him by a power of attorney extended only to managing Ms. Dixon's property. Because Clarence Smith lacked authority, no agreement to arbitrate exists.

Even if Mr. Smith did have such authority, the clause in this case cannot be enforced. The arbitration clause at issue was signed many years after Ms. Dixon became a resident of the facility. It was added to a new admission agreement as an attempt to limit liability for abuse and neglect and as a term of liability-insurance coverage imposed by Defendants' insurance carrier. The name of the facility changed at the same time that the new agreement was presented and this name change was the ostensible excuse for signing the new agreement. Mr. Smith and Ms. Dixon were never told the actual reasons for adding an arbitration clause to the admission agreement. Misleading Ms. Dixon and Mr. Smith into signing the new agreement, Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to Ms. Dixon. As a result, the arbitration clause was fraudulently induced and cannot be enforced.

Finally, this case is not arbitrable under the terms of the contract for arbitration. The Rules of Procedure of the American Health Lawyers Association are incorporated into the clause. Those Rules hold that a pre-dispute arbitration clause in this sort of case will not be enforced. This clause is a pre-dispute clause. Therefore, Plaintiff's claim is not arbitrable pursuant to the agreement's terms.

Each of these arguments independently requires reversal of the trial court's order and remand for trial on the merits.

ARGUMENT

This appeal is from a dismissal entered after Defendants' filed a motion to compel arbitration. This Court reviews motions to dismiss and motions to compel *de novo*. *Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens*, 911 So.2d 502 (Miss. 2005). Moreover, the issues presented in this case are questions of law, namely whether a valid arbitration clause exists. Thus, *de novo* review is appropriate.

In determining whether parties should be compelled to arbitrate a dispute, courts perform a two-step inquiry. R.M. Perez & Associates, Inc. v. Welch, 960 F.2d 534, 538 (5th Cir. 1992). "First, the court must determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate the dispute in question. This determination involves considerations: (1) Whether there is a valid agreement to arbitrate between the parties; and (2) whether the dispute in question falls within the scope of that arbitration agreement." Am. Heritage Life Ins. Co. v. Beasley, 174 F. Supp. 2d 450, 454 (N.D. Miss. 2001) (citing 9 U.S.C. § 4). See also Pre-Paid Legal Services, Inc. v. Battle, 873 So. 2d 79, 83 (Miss. 2004). If the Court finds that the parties agreed to arbitrate, "it must then consider whether a federal statute or policy renders the claims nonarbitrable." Ibid. "A party seeking to avoid arbitration must allege and prove that the arbitration provision itself was a product of fraud or coercion; alternatively, that party can allege and prove that another ground exists at law or in equity that would allow the parties' contract or agreement to be revoked." Ibid. (citing Sam Reisfeld & Son Import Co. v. S.A. Eteco, 530 F.2d 679, 680-81 (5th Cir. 1976)).

Federal District Courts in Mississippi have noted that the policy of favoring arbitration applies *only* after a valid arbitration agreement has been found. See *Mariner*

Health Care et al v. Kay and Lawrence Guthrie, Jr., et al, Civil Action No. 5:04CV218-DCB-JCS, p. 6, fn 4 (S.D. Miss. 2005) (citing Fleetwood Enters., Inc. v. Garkamp, 280 F. 3d 1069, 1070 & 1070 n.5 (5th Cir. 2002)) (emphasis in original). An agreement to arbitrate is treated like any other contract. Kresock v. Bankers Trust Co., 21 F.3d 176, 178 (7th Cir.1994). A party cannot be forced to submit to arbitration if he has not agreed to arbitrate his dispute. May v. Higbee, Co., 372 F. 3d 757, 763 (5th Cir. 2004). In determining whether a valid arbitration agreement arose between the parties, a court should look to the state law that ordinarily governs the formation of contracts. 9 U.S.C. § 2; First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 943 (1995).

As set forth below, it was error to compel arbitration for three separate and distinct reasons. First, no contract for arbitration exists because the person who signed the arbitration clause lacked authority to bind Jettie Dixon to arbitrate her claims. Second, under the peculiar facts of this case, the arbitration clause itself was fraudulently induced by breaches in Defendants' fiduciary duties owed to Jettie Dixon. Finally, under the material terms of this contract, arbitration is not available because the clause is a pre-dispute arbitration clause not arbitrable by its very terms. Each point will be addressed in turn below.

I. No Valid Arbitration Agreement Exists.

The first and most fundamental error in the trial court's decision is its finding that Clarence Smith had authority to bind Jettie Dixon to arbitrate her claims. Under Mississippi law, the elements of a valid contract are "(1) two or more contracting parties, (2) consideration, (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite, (4) parties with legal capacity to make a contract, and (5) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation."

Rotenberry v. Hooker, 864 So. 2d 266, 270 (Miss. 2003). "It goes without saying that a contract cannot bind a nonparty." *EEOC v. Waffle House*, 534 U.S. 279, 294 (2002).

Capacity is an issue Defendants cannot overcome in this case because Mr. Smith simply did not have the capacity to enter into a binding arbitration agreement on behalf of his mother. In Mississippi as elsewhere, before a third party can bind a person to a contract, that third party must have some authority to do so. According to the Mississippi Supreme Court:

It is the rule at common law that persons dealing with an agent must inquire as to his authority, and if the agent has no authority, the principal is not bound by his agreements, unless the principal either ratifies them, or so acts with reference to them as to constitute a waiver or an estoppel.

Aetna Ins. Co. v. Singleton, 164 So. 13, 16 (Miss. 1935).

What is absent in this case is any evidence whatsoever of any authority Jettie Dixon's son had to bind Ms. Dixon to an arbitration clause. While it is true that Mr. Smith held a power of attorney, that document only granted him authority over his mother's property. It simply was not sufficient to grant him the power to waive his mother's constitutional right to a jury trial.

This point becomes clear through an examination of the statutes and precedents. Section 87-3-7 of the Mississippi Code holds that a power of attorney should "express plainly the authority conferred." The power of attorney in this case does just that. It "expresses plainly" that Mr. Smith has full authority to manage Ms. Dixon's property. It does not confer any greater authority. He therefore had no other authority and could not bind Ms. Dixon to arbitrate her claims.

This point is merely the application of general principles of agency law to an attorney-in-fact. A principal "is bound by the actions of [her] agent within the scope of the

agent's real or apparent authority." Ford v. Lamar Life Ins. Co., 513 So.2d 880, 888 (Miss. 1987) (citing Baxter Porter & Sons Well Servicing Co. v. Venture Oil Corp., 488 So.2d 793 (Miss. 1986)). "Express authority is derived from specific instructions from the principal setting out the agent's duties, and exists whenever the principal directly states that its agent has the authority to perform a particular act on the principal's behalf." Mariner Health Care Inc. v. Rhodes, No. 5:04-CV-217 slip op. at 8 (DCB) (JCS) (S.D. Miss. 2005) (quoting 2A C.J.S. Agency § 389). Once again, the "specific instructions" given to Mr. Smith involved property management, not the waiver of important rights. He simply had no authority to agree to the arbitration clause.

In *Rhodes*, Judge Bramlette considered facts nearly identical to those in this case and concluded that the signatory to an arbitration clause lacked authority to bind a resident to arbitration. There, Sylvester Rhodes' daughter Katherine held power of attorney over her mother's financial affairs, but she signed an arbitration clause as Ms. Rhodes' "responsible party" at admission. After being notified of an impending suit, the nursing home owners and operators sued the estate and Ms. Rhodes' wrongful-death beneficiaries to enforce the arbitration clause. Citing the authority discussed above, Judge Bramlette rejected their claim, holding that "Mariner has not put forth any evidence that Sylvester Rhodes actually gave her daughter any express authority to act as her agent for the purpose of signing an arbitration agreement." *Rhodes*, slip op. at 8.

The same is true in this case. The power of attorney held by Mr. Smith grants very specific and limited authority. That authority does not include the ability to waive a jury trial

² Apparent authority is not an issue in this case. The record is devoid of any act on the part of Jettie Dixon that would reasonably lead a third party to believe that Mr. Smith had the authority to waive her right to a jury trial. See, e.g., Rhodes, slip op. at 9.

or enter into an agreement to arbitrate claims. Just as in *Rhodes*, the absence of that express authority precludes enforcement of the clause at issue. It was error for the trial court to compel arbitration in this case.

Presumably, Defendants will respond that the statutes that gave Mr. Smith the ability to admit his mother to the nursing home also gave him the authority to bind Jettie Dixon to an arbitration clause. They did not. It is true that "[a] surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient . . . if the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available." Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211(1). However, this record is devoid of the necessary physician determination to give effect to the statute. Second, and more importantly, "health-care decision" is defined by the statute as being a decision regarding "any care, treatment, service, or procedure to maintain, diagnose, or otherwise affect an individual's physical or mental condition." Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-203. This definition does not include waiving the right to a jury trial any more than it includes the authority to sell real property, to commit the resident to a loan agreement or to waive the patient's right to counsel. It simply does not create any authority that can bind Jettie Dixon in this case. Notably, the federal district courts in Mississippi have uniformly reached this conclusion. See Mariner Health Care et al v. Kay and Lawrence Guthrie, Jr., et al., Civil Action No. 5:04CV218-DCB-JCS (S.D. Miss. 2005); Mariner Health Care, Inc. v. Rhodes, No. 5:04CV217 (S.D. Miss 2005); Mariner v. Green, No. 4:04-CV-00246-MPM-EMB (N.D. Miss. 2006). They have done so because it is legally obvious. This Court should follow suit and affirm those decisions.

The conclusion that a third party cannot bind a person to a contract for arbitration absent some authority is uniform in the precedents. For example, the Tennessee Court of Appeals held that arbitration agreements signed by the next of kin without the express or apparent authority of the nursing home resident are invalid in Raiteri v. NHC Healthcare/Knoxville. Inc., No. 2-791-01, 2003 WL 23094413 (Tenn. Ct. App. Dec. 30, 2003). There, a husband admitted his wife to the defendant's nursing home. Id. at *1. The husband met with the admissions coordinator of the nursing home to sign all of the admissions papers without his wife being present, during which time he signed an agreement to arbitrate any claims regarding his wife's care against the nursing home. *Ibid.* He signed the agreements as his wife's "legal representative," but he did not indicate to the admissions coordinator that he actually had any authority to enter into agreements on his wife's behalf. Id. at *2. The court determined that the arbitration agreement was not binding because the husband did not have any authority to waive his wife's right to a jury trial. Id. at *8. Specifically, the Court wrote, "We find persuasive the plaintiff's arguments that Mr. Cox [plaintiff] did not have the express or apparent authority to sign the admission agreement for his wife and that the alternative dispute resolution provisions are otherwise unenforceable." Ibid. See also Pagarigan v. Libby Care Center, Inc., 120 Cal. Rptr.2d 892 (Cal. Ct. App. 2002); Blankfeld v. Richmond Health Care, Inc., 902 So.2d 296 (Fla. Ct. App. 2005).

Ample authority holds that where an agent does not have authority to bind a party to an arbitration agreement, or where the party otherwise does not sign the agreement, the party cannot be bound by its terms. See *Volt Info. Sciences, Inc. v. Board of Trustees*, 489 U.S. 468, 478, 109 S.Ct. 1248, 1255 (1989); *Goldberg v. Bear,*

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