IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2006-CA-00728

APPELLANT

THE ESTATE OF JETTIE DIXON, BY AND THROUGH CLARENCE SMITH, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE ESTATE OF JETTIE DIXON, AND ON BEHALF OF AND FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF JETTIE DIXON

VS.

BEDFORD HEALTH PROPERTIES, LLC; BEDFORD CARE CENTER OF MONROE HALL, LLC; HATTIESBURG MEDICAL PARK, INC.; HATTIESBURG MEDICAL PARK MANAGEMENT CORP.; M.E. MCELROY, INC.; MCELROY-YORK LIFE CARE FACILITIES, LLC; MCELROY-YORK LIFE CARE COMMUNITY, LLC; MICHAEL MCELROY, JR.; MICHAEL MCELROY, SR.; ROBERT PERRY; and GINA SIMONETTI

APPELLEES

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
I.	NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW	
II.	STATEMENT OF FACTS	
SUMMARY	OF THE ARGUMENT	
ARGUMENT		
I.	THIS COURT SHOULD APPLY A DE NOVO STANDARD OF REVIEW 6	
IJ.	SMITH POSSESSED THE POWER AND AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO THE ADMISSION AGREEMENT CONTAINING THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE 6	
II.	THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS FOR ENFORCEMENT UNDER MISSISISSIPPI LAW	
	A. The Arbitration Clause Is Contained In a Contract Evidencing Interstate Commerce	
	B. The Parties Entered Into a Valid Written Agreement to Arbitrate Covering the Claims Contained in the Estate's Complaint	
	C. There Are No Legal Constraints that Prevent the Enforcement of the Valid Agreements to Arbitrate	
CONCLUSION		
CERTIFICA	TE OF SERVICE	

.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

I. CASES

Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall, LLC v. Lewis, 923 So.2d 998 (Miss. 2006)
<u>Cleveland v. Mann,</u> 942 So.2d 108 (Miss. 2006)12
East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor, 826 So.2d 709 (Miss. 2002)
Greater Canton Ford Mercury, Inc. v. Ables, 2005-CA-01316-SCT (Miss. 2007)
<u>In re Estate of Fitzner,</u> 881 So.2d 164 (Miss. 2003)11
Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 428, 102 S. Ct. 1148, 1153-54, 71 L. Ed. 2d 265, 273 (1982)
Norwest Financial Mississippi, Inc., v. McDonald, 905 So.2d 1187 (Miss. 2005)
Pruitt v. Hancock Med. Ctr., 942 So.2d 797 (Miss. 2006)
<u>Rotenberry v. Hooker,</u> 864 So.2d 266 (Miss. 2003)
Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens, 911 So.2d 507 (Miss. 2005)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Durable Power of Attorney for Jettie Dixon gave Smith the authority to enter into the Admission Agreement and to accept the arbitration clause.
- II. Whether the arbitration clause agreed to by Smith is valid and enforceable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

The Estate of Jettie Dixon ("The Estate") has appealed the Circuit Court of Forrest County's ("Circuit Court") granting of the Motion to Compel Arbitration filed by Bedford Health Properties, LLC, Bedford Care Center--Monroe Hall, LLC; Hattiesburg Medical Park, Inc.; Hattiesburg Medical Park Management Corp.; M.E. McElroy, Inc.; McElroy-York Life Care Facilities, LLC; McElroy-York Life Care Community, LLC; Michael McElroy, Jr.; Michael McElroy, Sr.; Robert Perry; and Gina Simonetti (collectively referred to herein as "Defendants"). (C.P. at 8 384-388).

The Estate, by and through Clarence Smith, originally filed its Complaint in this action on August 24, 2004, for its own use and benefit and for the use and benefit of Jettie Dixon's wrongful death beneficiaries. (C.P. at 7, 10-43). Plaintiff based her eight separate counts on factual allegations regarding conduct, transactions, and occurrences involved in the care provided to Jettie Dixon by the named Defendants while she resided at the Defendants' nursing home in "Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi from 1997 until September 5, 2003." (C.P. at 10-43).

Defendants filed their Motion to Compel Arbitration in response to the Estate's Complaint. (C.P. at 7, 46-58). On March 31, 2006, the Circuit Court entered its Order on Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and Final Judgment of Dismissal Without Prejudice. (C.P. at 8, 382-383). In this Order, the Circuit Court granted the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (C.P. at 382). On April 26, 2006, the Estate filed its Notice of Appeal. (C.P. at 8, 384-388) This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

By way of a Durable Power of Attorney for Jettie Dixon, Clarence Smith, as Dixon's attorney-in-fact and fiduciary, had the power "to pay, compromise, contest, defend, settle, **arbitrate**, abandon or otherwise adjust any claims or demands in favor of or against" Dixon. (emphasis added)(C.P. at 195-198, R.E. at 4-7); see also Exhibit A, Complete Durable Power of Attorney for Jettie Dixon¹. The Durable Power of Attorney also gave Smith the power to do anything with respect to the management of Dixon's property that Smith believed to be in Dixon's best interest. (See Exhibit A, Complete Copy of Durable Power of Attorney for Jettie Dixon, page 5, paragraph 3.n.). The Durable Power of Attorney was filed with the Chancery Clerk of Forrest County on July 5, 2001. (C.P. at 195, R.E. at 4).

On November 12, 2002, Smith, acting under this Durable Power of Attorney for Dixon, Smith entered into an Admission Agreement with Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall, LLC, for the care and treatment of Dixon at Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall. (C.P. at .254-260, R.E. at 8-14). This admission agreement contained an arbitration clause in Section E and beginning on page 5. (C.P. at 258-259, R.E. 12-13). Smith initialed page 5 at both the top and bottom. (C.P. at 258, R.E. at 12). The arbitration clause states that any claim arising out of or relating to the care of Dixon at Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall would be resolved through binding arbitration. (C.P. at 258, R.E. at 12). The arbitration clause states that any arbitration would be conducted "in accordance with"—not by—the American Health Lawyers' Association Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration. (C.P. at 258, R.E. at

¹ The last page of the Durable Power of Attorney bearing Jettie Dixon's signature is not in the record. The Estate has not contested the validity of the Power of Attorney. Defendants have attached the complete Power of Attorney

12). The arbitration clause also acknowledged that Smith did not have to accept it and that, even after accepting it, he could rescind it within 30 days. (C.P. at 259, R.E. at 13). On the last page of the Admission Agreement directly above Smith's signature, the following sentence appears:

THE UNDERSIGNED ACKNOWLEDGE THAT EACH OF THEM HAS READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATION PROVISION AND HAS RECEIVED A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT EACH OF THEM VOLUNTARILY CONSENTS TO AND ACCEPTS ALL OF ITS TERMS.

(C.P. at 260, R.E. at 14) Wes Crider also singed the last page of the admission agreement on behalf of Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall. (C.P. at 260, R.E. at 14).

Dixon remained a resident at Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall through the time of her death on September 5, 2003. (C.P. at 10-43). At no time prior to Dixon's death did Smith or any other person attempt to have the admission agreement entered into by Smith on November 12, 2002, rescinded or otherwise revoked. See C.P. generally.

for this Court's convenience and request that the Court take judicial notice of this signature page in Exhibit A as it is a publicly filed document.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Forrest County appropriately compelled arbitration. Smith had the authority to enter into the admission agreement on Dixon's behalf by way of the Durable Power of Attorney. The Durable Power of Attorney gave Smith the power to do whatever he determined was in the best interest of Dixon. Further, the Durable Power of Attorney gave Smith the right to resolve any claims for or against Dixon as he saw fit. This specifically included the power to arbitrate any claims in favor of Dixon. The Durable Power of Attorney gave Smith authority over all of Dixon's property. A cause of action is considered property. Thus, the Durable Power of Attorney gave Smith the right to resolve any claims for Dixon arising out of her care at Bedford Care Center-Monroe Hall via binding arbitration.

Additionally, the arbitration clause otherwise meets the requirements for enforceability under Mississippi law. The arbitration clause is contained in a valid written contract having a sufficient nexus with interstate commerce. The arbitration clause covers all the claims in the Estate's Complaint. No legal constraints exist that would prevent the enforcement of the arbitration clause.

Based on the above reasoning, the Circuit Court appropriately found the arbitration clause to be enforceable and compelled arbitration. Therefore, the Circuit Court's decision is due to be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Forrest County properly granted Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration as the evidence in this case and prevailing Mississippi law establish that a valid and enforceable arbitration clause covering the causes of action asserted by the Estate against Defendants in the Estate's Complaint exists. Similarly, this Court in its review of this appeal, should affirm the Circuit Court's decision and compel the Estate to resolve its causes of action in accordance with the arbitration clause at issue.

I. THIS COURT SHOULD APPLY A DE NOVO STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The Estate seeks review of the granting of Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. The Estate has appropriately noted that this Court should apply a *de novo* standard of review. <u>See Vicksburg Partners, L.P. v. Stephens</u>, 911 So.2d 507, 513 (Miss. 2005).

II. SMITH POSSESSED THE POWER AND AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO THE ADMISSION AGREEMENT CONTAINING THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE.

Since no party contests that Dixon did not sign the Admission Agreement containing the arbitration clause, the initial issue for determination is whether or not Smith possessed the authority to enter into the Admission Agreement on Dixon's behalf. Additionally, the Estate has argued that Smith did not posses the power to enter into the arbitration clause contained in the Admission Agreement.

Smith held a Durable Power of Attorney for Dixon. (C.P. at 195-198, R.E. at 4-7); see <u>also</u> Exhibit A. The Estate has not contested the validity of this Durable Power of Attorney. In fact, the Estate relies upon it to argue that Smith did not have the power to agree to the arbitration clause. However, the specific terms of the Durable Power of Attorney prove that

Smith had the power to enter into the Admission Agreement and to agree to the arbitration clause.

The Durable Power of Attorney reads in pertinent part as follows:

I, Jettie Dixon,....do hereby nominate, constitute, and appoint my son, Clarence L. Smith,...as my true and lawful agent and attorney in-fact (herein "Attorney") to act on my behalf and in my stead with respect to all property, real, personal and mixed, wherever located, now owned or hereafter acquired by me,....

2. This power of attorney...shall be construed as effective under Section 87-3-13(2) of the Mississippi Code of 1972 as amended.

3. The Attorney shall have and is hereby vested with the full and plenary power to do and perform, in his fiduciary capacity, any and all acts and deeds in connection with the management of my property which he in his discretion and consistent with his fiduciary duty deem to be in the best interests of the Principal....Included in this power,...are all inherent, implied or statutory powers that attorneys-in-fact my now have or hereafter acquire, and the following additional specific powers:

d. To pay, compromise, contest, defend, settle, arbitrate, abandon or otherwise adjust any claims or demands in favor of or against me;

1. To execute....contracts and any and all other documents or instruments or writing which may be necessary, convenient or desirable in the exercise of any power herein granted;

•••

. . .

. . .

. . .

These portions of the Durable Power of Attorney lay out the powers granted to Smith that make his entry into the Admission Agreement, including the arbitration clause, valid. Smith held the position of a fiduciary for Dixon. Smith also held the power to enter into contracts by way of Paragraph 3(1). Thus, Smith had the power to enter into the Admission Agreement on behalf of Dixon.

As to Smith's acceptance of the arbitration clause specifically, Paragraph 3(d) of the Durable Power of Attorney unequivocally states that Smith held the power "to…arbitrate…any

claims or demands in favor of or against" Dixon. This power to arbitrate implicitly includes the power to agree to and accept an arbitration clause because it would be impossible for Smith to arbitrate without Smith first agreeing to arbitrate.

To combat this grant of the power to agree to an arbitration clause, the Estate has argued that Smith did not possess the power to waive Dixon's constitutional right to a trial by jury. The Estate has directed this Court's attention to the specific language of the Durable Power of Attorney but has ignored the language in Paragraph 3(d). The Estate has also not included the page of the Durable Power of Attorney upon which Paragraph 3(d) can be found within its Record Excerpts (only pages 1,2 and 4 of Durable Power of Attorney are included).

However, the existence of the language in Paragraph 3(d) proves that Smith did possess the power to resolve claims via an arbitral process and to waive the right to a jury trial. Additionally, the entirety of Paragraph 3(d) gives Smith the power to waive the right to a jury trial by resorting to many other options of dispute resolution. By giving Smith the power "To pay, compromise, contest, defend, settle, arbitrate, abandon or otherwise adjust any claims or demands in favor of or against" her, Dixon specifically gave Smith the power to resolve claims in her favor by means other than a jury trial. The abandoning or settling of a claim in Dixon's favor equates to a waiver of a jury trial. Thus, the Estate's contention that Smith did not possess the right to waive a jury trial to resolve claims in favor of Dixon lacks merit.

Lastly, the Estate goes on to argue that Smith's power was limited to only being power over Dixon's "property" and that Dixon's "claims" did not come under this grant of power. Again, the plain language of Paragraph 3(d) of the Durable Power of Attorney shows that the Estate's argument fails. Via Paragraph 3(d), Smith had power over "any claims or demands in favor of or against" Dixon. Thus, the Durable Power of Attorney itself considered Dixon's claims as part of her "property." Further, the United States Supreme Court and the Mississippi Supreme Court have noted that a cause of action is a species of property. <u>See Logan v.</u> <u>Zimmerman Brush Co.</u>, 455 U.S. 422, 428, 102 S. Ct. 1148, 1153-54, 71 L. Ed. 2d 265, 273 (1982); <u>Pruitt v. Hancock Med. Ctr.</u>, 942 So.2d 797 (Miss. 2006).

Therefore, in sum, Smith in his fiduciary role over Dixon's property had the power to enter into the Admission Agreement with the arbitration clause and to agree to resolve any claims in Dixon's favor via an arbitral process. This leads to the issue of whether or not the arbitration clause is a valid and enforceable clause.

II. THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS FOR ENFORCEMENT UNDER MISSISISSIPPI LAW.

In <u>Vicksburg Partners v. Stephens</u>, this Court addressed the enforceability of an arbitration clause contained within a patient's admission agreement to a nursing home. 911 So.2d 507 (Miss. 2005). In sum, this Court found such a clause to be enforceable when it satisfies the general requirements for the enforcement of arbitration clauses in Mississippi. <u>Id.</u> This decision provides the guiding principles for the evaluation of the enforceability of the arbitration clause at issue in this case and details the series of requirements that an arbitration clause must satisfy to be found enforceable.

A. The Arbitration Clause Is Contained In a Contract Evidencing Interstate Commerce.

The threshold requirement is whether the arbitration clause is contained in a contract evidencing interstate commerce. <u>Id.</u> at 514. In <u>Vicksburg Partners</u>, this Court held that "singular agreements between care facilities and care patients, when taken in the aggregate, affect interstate commerce" and found that nursing homes affect interstate commerce. <u>Id.</u> at 515.

There is no dispute that the clause at issue is contained in a nursing home admission agreement. Further, the Estate has not argued that this interstate commerce requirement is not satisfied. As such, the threshold requirement of "evidencing interstate commerce" is met.

B. The Parties Entered Into a Valid Written Agreement to Arbitrate Covering the Claims Contained in the Estate's Complaint.

The next issue for consideration is whether the Estate and Defendants entered into a valid written agreement to arbitrate that covers the claims in the Estate's Complaint. <u>East Ford, Inc. v.</u> <u>Taylor</u>, 826 So.2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002). Whether or not a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists is proven by the application of simple contract law to the Admission Agreement. <u>See Terminix Int'l, Inc. v. Rice</u>, 904 So.2d 1051 1054-1055 (Miss. 2004). A valid contract exists when two or more contracting parties, with legal capacity to contract, give mutual assent to an exchange of consideration in an agreement that is sufficiently definite and not precluded by legal prohibitions to the formation of a contract. <u>Rotenberry v. Hooker</u>, 864 So.2d 266, 270 (Miss. 2003).

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